NONCANONICAL WNT SIGNALING PATHWAYS IN *C. ELEGANS* CONVERGE ON POP-1/TCF AND CONTROL CELL POLARITY

Michael A. Herman and Mingfu Wu

Program in Molecular, Cellular and Developmental Biology, Division of Biology, Kansas State University, Manhattan, KS 66506

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. Abstract

2. Introduction

3. Noncanonical Wnt signals control the polarity of the EMS blastomere

3.1. Wnt/MAPK signaling represses POP-1 function

3.2. Wnt/MAPK signaling causes nuclear-cytoplasmic redistribution of POP-1

3.3. Quality, not quantity of POP-1 is important

4. A parallel pathway involving SRC-1 is also involved in EMS polarity

5. Wnt-dependant and-independent controls on POP-1 asymmetric distribution in other cells

6. Role of POP-1 in the control of T cell polarity

7. Other cell polarities that involve noncanonical Wnt signaling

8. Conclusions and remaining questions

8.1. Spindle effects

8.2. POP-1 and asymmetric cell fate determination

8.3. The nature of POP-1 quality

9. Acknowledgements

10. References

1. ABSTRACT

In the nematode Caenorhabditis elegans, a canonical Wnt signaling pathway controls a cell migration whereas noncanonical Wnt pathways control the polarities of individual cells. Despite the differences in the identities and interactions among canonical and noncanonical Wnt pathway components, as well as the processes they regulate, almost all C. elegans Wnt pathways involve the sole Tcf homolog, POP-1. Intriguingly, POP-1 is asymmetrically distributed between the daughters of an asymmetric cell division, with the anterior sister cell usually having a higher level of nuclear POP-1 than its posterior sister. At some divisions, asymmetric distribution of POP-1 is controlled by noncanonical Wnt signaling, but at others the asymmetry is generated independently. Recent experiments suggest that despite this elaborate anterior-posterior POP-1 asymmetry, the quantity of POP-1 protein may have less to do with the subsequent determination of fate than does the quality of the POP-1 protein in the cell. In this review, we will embark on a quest to understand Quality (1), at least from the standpoint of the effect POP/Tcf quality has on the control of cell polarity in C. elegans.

2. INTRODUCTION

Wnt signaling pathways are conserved from mammals to nematodes and function in diverse developmental processes, such as cell proliferation, cell differentiation, cell fate determination, synaptogenesis, cell migration, and cell polarity (reviewed in refs. 2-4). At least three major conserved Wnt signaling pathways are now recognized: Wnt/beta-catenin, Wnt/calcium and Wnt/JNK or planar cell polarity (PCP). In canonical or Wnt/betacatenin pathways, Wnt signals function to stabilize betacatenin level in the cell, allowing beta-catenin to translocate to the nucleus and form a complex with Tcf/Lef factors to activate or repress expression of specific genes. Beta-catenin is not involved in the noncanonical Wnt/calcium and PCP pathways, although in some cases noncanonical Wnt signaling interferes with Wnt/betacatenin signaling (reviewed in ref. 5).

Wnt signaling pathways control several aspects of C. elegans development, including cell fate decisions. cell migrations and cell polarity (reviewed in refs. 6, 7). Both canonical and noncanonical Wnt pathways function during C. elegans development. A canonical Wnt pathway controls the migrations of the descendants of the QL neuroblast, collectively called the QL.d (reviewed in refs. 6-8). This canonical pathway includes egl-20/Wnt, mig-5/Dsh, sgg-1/GSK-3, bar-1/beta-catenin, pry-1/Axin and pop-1/Tcf and functions to control the expression of mab-5/Hox, which controls the migration of the QL.d (9-14). There are three beta-catenin homologs in C. elegans: BAR-1, HMP-2 and WRM-1. Interestingly, it appears that the adhesion and signaling functions that are performed by a single beta-catenin molecule in other species have been distributed among the three C. elegans homologs (12, 15). BAR-1 is the only beta-catenin homolog that interacts strongly with the sole Tcf homolog, POP-1, which has been shown to function as a canonical Tcf (12). WRM-1 also participates in signaling, however it interacts weakly with POP-1 (15, 16) and appears to do so in the absence of the POP-1 amino-terminal beta-catenin binding site (15), indicating that the WRM-1-POP-1 interaction is different than the BAR-1-POP-1 interaction. Furthermore, WRM-1

only functions in pathways that also involve LIT-1, a nemo-like kinase that is involved in a mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK)-like pathway. Together, this suggests that Wnt signaling pathways in which WRM-1 participates are noncanonical. Although POP-1 also participates in these pathways, it is regulated differently than it is in the canonical pathways. HMP-2 appears to function only in adhesion: it does not interact with POP-1, but does interact with HMR-1/cadherin (12, 15). Based upon the distinct functions for the three C. elegans betacatenin homologs, signaling pathways that involve BAR-1 appear to be canonical, while those involving WRM-1 are noncanonical. A Wnt/calcium pathway has not been described in C. elegans and a PCP-like pathway appears to control the polarity of at least one cell that divides asymmetrically (M.W. and M.A.H., unpublished). Interestingly, in C. elegans, all Wnt pathways, canonical or noncanonical, appear to converge on POP-1/Tcf.

Some canonical pathway components, including BAR-1, have also been shown to be involved in controlling the fates of the P12 ectoblast and the vulval precursor cells. However, in these cell fate decisions the full pathway has not been shown to be active and Ras signaling is also involved. Thus, it is not clear whether these cell fates are controlled by the interaction of the canonical Wnt pathway and a Ras pathway or whether the pathway is also noncanonical in some respect.

WRM-1 and POP-1 function in noncanonical Wnt signaling that is almost exclusively involved in controlling the orientations, or cell polarities, of several cells that divide asymmetrically during C. elegans development; specifically the EMS blastomere, the T cells in the tail and the Z1 and Z4 cells in the developing gonad. In each of these asymmetric cell divisions (except for the Z1 and Z4 cells), as well as many others, the nuclear levels of POP-1 are asymmetric with one sister cell, usually the anterior cell, having a higher level of nuclear POP-1 than it's sister. Furthermore, it appears that the function of the WRM-1/LIT-1 noncanonical pathway is to lower the nuclear level of POP-1 in one sister cell. The mechanisms responsible for this regulation, as well as the consequences of cells having different POP-1 nuclear levels, are being intensely investigated. However, while much has been learned, many questions remain. The control of POP-1 nuclear level appears to be fundamental to the control of cell polarity by noncanonical Wnt signaling in C. elegans, however modification of POP-1 also seems to be important. This review will focus on the progress that has been made in understanding POP-1/Tcf regulation and role in the control of cell polarity and discuss the remaining questions.

3. NONCANONICAL WNT SIGNALS CONTROL THE POLARITY OF THE EMS BLASTOMERE

At the four-cell stage of *C. elegans* embryogenesis, the EMS blastomere divides asymmetrically to produce an anterior MS cell, that subsequently divides to generate mesodermal precursors, and a posterior E cell, that subsequently divides to generate all the endoderm. Blastomere isolation and reconstitution

experiments demonstrated that the P2 blastomere polarizes the EMS blastomere by inducing the nucleus and centrosomes to rotate 90°, reorienting the spindle along the anterior-posterior axis, as well as inducing the E cell fate at the point of contact between P2 and EMS (17, 18). Forward and reverse genetic approaches have identified many genes that when mutated or inactivated by RNAi affect EMS polarity and endodermal cell fate specification. These include several Wnt pathway components: mom-2/Wnt, mom-1/Porc, mom-5/Fz, wrm-1/beta-catenin, sgg-1/GSK3, apr-1/APC and pop-1/Tcf (19-21). Two of the three C. elegans Dishevelled homologs, mig-5 and dsh-2, are enriched in oocytes (22) and appear to be involved in endoderm induction (23). In addition, MAPK pathway components *lit-1/NLK* and *mom-4/TAK1*, which encodes a MAP kinase kinase protein similar to mammalian TAK1, were also identified (16, 24). The molecular identity of an additional gene, mom-3, has not yet been determined.

Mutations in each of the above genes, except *pop-1*, leads to the loss of endoderm, whereas mutation of *pop-1* leads to the loss of mesoderm. Furthermore, upstream components *mom-1*, *mom-2*, *mom-5*, *mig-5/dsh-2* and *sgg-1* are involved in both EMS spindle orientation and endoderm specification, whereas downstream components *apr-1*, *wrm-1*, and *pop-1* affect only endoderm specification. This suggests that the spindle orientation and endoderm specification pathways branch at *sgg-1* (21, 23). These and other considerations suggest that the spindle orientation pathway may interact directly with the cytoskeleton (25).

3.1. Wnt/MAPK signaling represses of POP-1 function

The Wnt pathway that specifies endoderm involves WRM-1 and is noncanonical. The involvement of LIT-1/NLK and MOM-4/TAK1 also make this Wnt pathway unusual. Both the Wnt and MAPK pathways converge on POP-1/Tcf. In the absence of a signal from P2, POP-1/Tcf represses E cell fate. Thus, endoderm induction is achieved by inhibition of a repressor. POP-1 represses endoderm fate in the MS cell by recruiting a complex that contains the histone deacetylase (HDAC), HDA-1 and UNC-37/Groucho (26). This appears to occur by repressing the transcription of the endoderm-specific GATA-like transcription factor genes, end-1 and end-3, in the MS cell. Two other redundant, zygotically expressed GATA factors, MED-1 and MED-2 bind to the end-1 and end-3 promoters and are required for end gene expression in the E cell (27). Even in the unstimulated MS cell, MED-1, and presumably MED-2, bind to the end gene promoters, but so does POP-1, which somehow inhibits end gene expression by the MEDs (28). Interestingly, recent data indicate that the C. elegans p300 histone acetyltransferase homolog CBP-1 interacts with POP-1 and acetylates it (29). Furthermore, acetylation of POP-1 is required for POP-1 function in MS, as a pop-1 construct in which the three acetylated lysine residues (K185, K187 and K188) were changed to either alanine (GFP::POP-1MutAAA) or arginine (GFP::POP-1MutRRR) failed to rescue a pop-1 mutant, while the control GFP::POP-1 construct was able to rescue (29). Thus, both HDA-1/HDAC and CPB-1/p300

are required in the unsignalled MS cell to block *end* gene expression and repress E cell fate. Interestingly, CBP-1 function is also required for *end-1* expression and endoderm fate (26). Thus, CBP-1 function is required both in MS to repress endodermal fate and in E to promote endoderm fate. One possibility is that the targets of CBP-1 acetylation in MS and E are different. For example, CBP-1 may acetylate POP-1 in MS in order to repress *end* gene expression and to acetylate histones in E to allow *end* gene activation.

In the E cell, the Wnt and MAPK pathways components function to repress POP-1 function. An unusual aspect of the Wnt pathway involved in endoderm induction is that APR-1/APC and SGG-1/GSK3 act positively in Wnt signal transduction to activate WRM-1, leading to the negative regulation of POP-1. This is very different from canonical Wnt pathways where APC and GSK3 function as part of a complex involved in the degradation of beta-catenin in the absence of Wnt signals and are inhibited in the presence of Wnt signals. WRM-1 and LIT-1 can interact and together phosphorylate POP-1 (16), leading to the inhibition of POP-1 function.

3.2. Wnt/MAPK signaling causes nuclear-cytoplasmic redistribution of POP-1

Recent studies have begun to illuminate how POP-1 function is inhibited (28, 29). The nuclear level of POP-1 is higher in the anterior MS cell than it is in the posterior E cell. However, the overall level of POP-1 in the MS and E cells is similar. Wnt/MAPK signaling appears to cause a nuclear-cytoplasmic redistribution of POP-1 in the E cell. The difference in POP-1 nuclear levels is apparent immediately after the division of EMS. This lead Maduro et al. to suggest that the lowered nuclear POP-1 level is due to the inefficient import of POP-1 into the reforming E cell nucleus (28), although other mechanisms are possible. An internal 124 amino acid region of POP-1, that does not include the beta-catenin binding site in the amino-terminus of POP-1 nor the HMG box DNA-binding domain, is required for asymmetric nuclear accumulation (28). Acetvlation of POP-1 also influences nuclear-cvtoplasmic partitioning. Specifically, acetylation promotes nuclear localization, possibly by increasing nuclear import and blocking nuclear export. However, phosphorylation of POP-1 by WRM-1 and LIT-1 does not affect POP-1 acetylation state, but does cause POP-1 to accumulate in the cytoplasm. This is supported by the observation that both GFP::MutAAA or GFP::MutRRR are predominantly cytoplasmic, yet retain anterior-posterior asymmetric nuclear levels in MS and E (29). Thus, while acetylation is involved in nuclear-cytoplasmic distribution of POP-1, it does not appear to be involved in the anterior-posterior asymmetry. This suggests that phosphorylation of POP-1 is independent of acetylation and can override the promotion of nuclear localization by acetylation. One consequence of Wnt/MAPK signaling, then, appears to be phosphorylation of POP-1, resulting its redistribution from the nucleus to the cytoplasm.

3.3. Quality, not quantity of POP-1 is important

Despite the elaborate regulation of nuclear POP-1 level in the E cell, three experiments suggest that the

absolute amount of nuclear POP-1 is not the most important consequence of Wnt/MAPK signaling on E cell fate. First, overexpression of a GFP::POP-1 construct in EMS and E had no effect on endoderm induction, although there was an estimated ten-fold increase in the amount of functional POP-1 in the E cell (28). Second, nuclear POP-1 levels in MS and E are equal in the *lit-1(t1534)* mutant, but endoderm is still properly specified. This demonstrates that POP-1 asymmetric nuclear distribution can be uncoupled from endoderm specification, suggesting that there is a qualitative difference in POP-1 in signaled versus nonsignalled cells. Finally, although some nuclear POP-1 remains in the E cell, it does not bind to the end gene promoters, which allows for end gene activation by MED-1 and MED-2 (28). Something is different about POP-1 in the E cell nucleus after Wnt/MAPK signaling that prevents it from binding to the end gene promoters. This qualitative difference may be reflected in the intranuclear localization of POP-1 in nonsignalled cells. In MS, POP-1 has been observed to localize to puncta within the nucleus; whereas in the nucleus E, it is present in a low, but uniform pattern (28). Maduro et al. suggest the puncta observed in the MS nucleus may reflect POP-1's function as a repressor. Whether or not this turns out to be the case, it seems clear that a qualitative difference in POP-1 function, apart from the consequence that Wnt/MAPK signaling has on level of nuclear POP-1, does exist. The function of this qualitative difference and the role of POP-1 asymmetric nuclear distribution remains a puzzle, however.

4. A PARALLEL PATHWAY INVOLVING SRC-1 IS ALSO INVOLVED IN EMS POLARITY

New players have recently entered the picture. Mutations in the Src Kinase homolog src-1 caused defects in EMS spindle orientation reminiscent of Wnt pathway mutants (23). In addition, src-1 mutants also caused defects in the germline precursor cells similar to those caused by mes-1 mutations. MES-1 is a putative transmembrane protein that has a structure of a receptor tyrosine kinase, although it is not predicted to be an active kinase (23, 30). Although src-1 and mes-1 mutants do not display endoderm defects on their own, the similarity of the EMS spindle defects led Bei and colleagues to determine whether they might interact genetically with mutations in Wnt pathway components. Double mutant combinations between src-1 or mes-1 and mom-1/Porc, mom-2/Wnt, mom-5/Fz, sgg-/GSK3, or mom-3 displayed synergistic EMS spindle orientation and endoderm defects. In addition, the src-1 or mes-1 triple mutant combination with dsh-2/Dsh and mig-5/Dsh also displayed synergistic EMS spindle orientation and endoderm specification defects. This indicates that SRC-1 and MES-1 function in parallel with the noncanonical Wnt pathway to control both EMS spindle orientation and endoderm specification (23). These data were supported by observations that double mutants between Wnt pathway components did not display any genetic interactions. In addition, the nuclear levels of POP-1 were equal in MS and E in src-1; mom-2 and mes-1; mom-2 double mutants; indicating that these pathways converge on POP-1. A long-standing curiosity about the involvement of the Wnt pathway in these processes was



Figure 1. Model of control of polarity in the EMS divisions. Modified from refs. 22 and 27. Model for P2-to-EMS signaling (upper) and subsequent asymmetric division of EMS (lower). Red circles indicate phosphorylation of POP-1, presumably by WRM-1 and LIT-1. Blue rectangles indicate acetylation of POP-1, presumably by CBP-1. CBP-1 may also acetylate histones to modify chromatin structure allowing for *end* gene expression in the E cell. Acetylation promotes nuclear retention of POP-1, thus non-acetylated POP-1 may be found in the cytoplasm of MS. Phosphorylation of POP-1 overrides the acetylation of POP-1 causing redistribution of POP-1 to the cytoplasm in E, thus cytoplasmic POP-1 in E may be both acetylated and phosphorylated. See text for additional details.

that the upstream Wnt pathway mutants showed only a partial loss of P2-to-EMS signaling. Thus, the existence of a parallel pathway, in addition to the LIT-1/MAPK pathway, that also functions to control EMS spindle orientation and endoderm specification, makes sense. This was demonstrated by showing that a src-1 mutant also genetically interacts with mom-4 and with apr-1 mutants. apr-1 interacts genetically with both the Wnt pathway (19, 23) and lit-1 (16). mom-4 also interacts genetically with the Wnt pathway (23, 31). Thus evidence exists for three pathways as well as APR-1; which appears to have some function that is independent of all three pathways. It is not clear exactly where these pathways intersect, although for endoderm specification, it must be upstream of POP-1. There may also be multiple points of interaction among the pathways, leading to the idea that it is more of a network, than separate interacting pathways (23) (Figure 1).

5. WNT-DEPENDENT AND INDEPENDENT CONTROLS ON POP-1 ASYMMETRIC DISTRIBUTION IN OTHER CELLS

POP-1 is asymmetrically distributed to anteriorposterior sister cells at many other divisions during *C. elegans* development (13, 32). What controls POP-1 asymmetry at these divisions? Park and Priess have recently addressed this question by examining the controls over POP-1 asymmetry within the AB cell lineage (33). The two-cell *C. elegans* embryo consists of an anterior blastomere, AB, and a posterior blastomere, P1. AB then divides along a skewed anterior-posterior plane to generate AB.a and AB.p (the AB² stage). Next, these cells divide transversely along a left-right plane to generate AB.al, AB.ar, AB.pl and AB.pr (the AB⁴ stage). Each of these, and subsequent, AB descendants divide along an anterior posterior plane (the AB⁸, AB¹⁶, AB³², etc. stages). Within the AB lineage, POP-1 is not asymmetrically distributed until the third division (the AB^8 stage) (32). To determine what prevents POP-1 asymmetry during the first two AB divisions and what establishes it at the third, Park and Priess examined POP-1 levels in embryos and cultured embryonic cells. They first used RNAi to inhibit the function of the G-alpha proteins encoded by goa-1 and gpa-16 to randomize the EMS division plane (34). They observed that if EMS divided along a transverse (left-right) plane, POP-1 was not asymmetric in the daughter cell nuclei, whereas if EMS divided along the normal anteriorposterior plane, POP-1 was asymmetric. Normally, the AB^2 cells divide transversely, with both cells contacting P2, and there is no POP-1 asymmetry. In similar goa-1(RNAi); gpa-16(RNAi) embryos, POP-1 was asymmetric if the AB² cells divided along an anterior-posterior axis. Furthermore, the POP-1 asymmetry in these embryos was dependant upon MOM-2/Wnt. Isolated AB² cells also divided transversely. If an isolated P2 cell is placed perpendicular to the division axis, which is the normal configuration, POP-1 is not asymmetric in the daughter cell nuclei, as expected. However, if an isolated P2 cell is placed in line with the division axis, POP-1 is asymmetric in the daughter cell nuclei, with the distal daughter having a higher nuclear level of POP-1. Thus, AB^2 cells can respond to polarity signals from P2 (which depend upon MOM-2), but the transverse division plane places both daughters in contact with P2, precluding asymmetric distribution of POP-1 in the daughter cell nuclei. As a result, POP-1 is not asymmetric in the AB⁴ cells.

When the AB^4 cells divide to generate the AB^8 cells, POP-1 asymmetry is observed. How is POP-1 asymmetry established at this division? Isolated C, P3 (both P1 descendants), E and to some extent MS cells, are capable of inducing POP-1 asymmetry at the division of the AB², AB⁴ and AB⁸ cells. Furthermore, C and P2 require MOM-2 to induce POP-1 asymmetry, whereas MS does not. Among the multiple cells that are capable of inducing POP-1 asymmetry at the division of the AB⁴ cells, blastomere recombination experiments established that P2, E and C have precedence over MS. This suggests that C, P3 and E function together to orient POP-1 asymmetry at the division of the AB^4 cells. In addition, the observation that the AB⁸ cells display POP-1 asymmetry in mom-2 mutants (24, 32) can be explained by a Wnt-independent polarity signal from MS.

After division of the AB⁸ cells, the AB and EMS descendants can generate POP-1 asymmetry independent of MOM-2/Wnt signals. This was demonstrated by sequential isolation of embryonic AB daughter cells in culture. POP-1 was not asymmetric at the AB⁴ or AB⁸ stages, but became asymmetric at the AB¹⁶ stage. The acquisition of POP-1 asymmetry in these experiments was independent of MOM-2, yet still required MOM-5/Fz. This is reminiscent of planar cell polarity pathways in *Drosophila*, which are dependant upon Frizzled, but for which no Wnt signal has been identified (reviewed in ref. 35). Interestingly, when adjacent AB¹⁶ cells divided, POP-1 asymmetry was mirror symmetric. Instead of nuclear POP-1 levels being

high/low, high/low, they were low/high, high/low. This is in contrast to what occurs in intact embryos, where the POP-1 asymmetry is always anterior-posterior asymmetric high/low. This suggests the existence of two signaling pathways that generate POP-1 asymmetry, one that is Wntdependant and another that is not. However, it is not clear whether all the high/low POP-1 asymmetries that are generated during development (and there are many), do so in response to a Wnt signal, or whether in an intact animal, other cellular behaviors dictate the high/low POP-1 asymmetry independent of Wnt signals.

6. ROLE OF POP-1 IN THE CONTROL OF T CELL POLARITY

Noncanonical Wnt signaling also controls the polarities of the B and T cells that divide asymmetrically in the tail of developing C. elegans larvae. Mutations in lin-44/Wnt cause the polarities of the B and T cells to be reversed, while mutations in lin-17 /Fz cause a loss of polarity in the same cells (review in refs. 6, 8). This suggests that LIN-17 is the LIN-44 receptor. LIN-44 is expressed in the epidermal cells at the tip of the developing tail, posterior to the T cells (36). The difference in polarity effects of lin-44 and lin-17 mutants (reversal versus loss of polarity) is curious and suggests the existence of a second Wnt signal that emanates from a source anterior to the T cells that serves to orient the T cell division in the absence of lin-44 (37). Such an anterior signal has yet to be found, however. Other Wnt pathway components that have been shown to function in the control of T cell polarity include LIT-1 (16), WRM-1 (H. Takeshita and H. Sawa, personal communication) and POP-1 (13). Interfering with the function of these genes cause a loss of T cell polarity. rather than the reversal of polarity observed in lin-44 mutants. Effects of this pathway may occur through the action of chromatin remodeling complexes as mutations in egl-27, which encodes a protein with similarity to a factor isolated as a component of the NURD complex as well as mutations in *psa-1* and *psa-4*, which encode homologs of the SWI/SNF complex all cause a loss of T cell polarity (38, 39). *tlp-1* encodes a zinc-finger protein required for neural cell fates within the T.p and T.ap cell lineages and may be a target gene, as TLP-1 is localized specifically to T.p and responds to LIN-44/Wnt signals (40). The involvement of WRM-1 and LIT-1 suggests that the noncanonical Wnt pathway controlling T cell polarity may bear some resemblance to that involved in endoderm induction. However, the role POP-1 plays in the T cell divisions suggests that there might be some differences.

As in many other anterior-posterior asymmetric cell divisions, the nuclear level of POP-1 is higher in the anterior T cell daughter, T.a, than it is in the posterior daughter, T.p (13). However, in *lin-44* mutants, the nuclear level of POP is lower in T.a, reflecting the reversal of T cell polarity. Surprisingly, inactivation POP-1 by RNAi, mutation or expression of a dominant negative POP-1 construct that lacks the amino-terminal beta-catenin binding site causes a loss of polarity similar to that observed for *lin-17* mutants; the production of two epidermal cells, the anterior cell fate (13, 41). This is



Figure 2. Model for LIN-44 signaling (upper) and control of T cell asymmetric division (lower). Proposed interactions based upon results observed for EMS polarity (see **Figure 1**). ? indicates that a role for the component has not been reported. MOM-3 and APR-1 do not appear to play a role in T cell polarity (M.A.H., unpublished). See text for additional details.

contrary to what one might expect if POP-1 functions similarly in the EMS and T cell divisions. Loss of POP-1 function in the EMS division leads to the production of two endodermal cells, the posterior cell fate. If the same were true of the T cell division, pop-1 mutations should lead to the production of two neural cells, the posterior cell fate, rather than two epidermal cells. This suggests that POP-1 may play a positive role in specifying the neural T.p cell fate, despite the lower POP-1 nuclear levels observed in Similar to what is proposed for endoderm T.p. specification, it appears that it is the quality of POP-1. rather than the quantity of POP-1 that is important for determining neural cell fate and establishing cell polarity (13). If POP-1 is phosphorylated by WRM-1 and LIT-1 in T.p, as it is in E, the mechanism for POP-1 nuclear to cytoplasmic redistribution may be similar, while the functional consequence of that modification on cell fate specification may be different (Figure 2). The current challenge is to determine which mechanisms T cell polarity shares with EMS polarity and which are different.

7. OTHER CELL POLARITIES THAT INVOLVE NONCANONICAL WNT SIGNALING

Noncanonical Wnt signaling also controls the asymmetric cell divisions of the Z1 and Z4 cell that generate the somatic gonad. The gonad primordium lies in the center of the animal, the Z1 and Z4 cells flank the two primordial germ cells Z2 and Z3. The hermaphrodite gonad develops an anterior and a posterior arm, each having a proximal-distal axis (reviewed in (42). The polarities of the Z1 and Z4 divisions are oriented along the proximal-distal axis of the gonad. Mutations in mom-1/Porc, lin-17/Fz, wrm-1/beta-catenin, lit-1/NLK and pop-1/Tcf cause the loss of polarity of the Z1 and Z4 divisions (41). Thus, this pathway is similar to that involved in the control of EMS and T cell polarities. In fact, it may be a bit more like the T cell pathway in that interfering with each of these genes has the same effect on Z1 and Z4 polarities, instead of *pop-1* having the opposite effect as occurs with EMS polarity. It is also not known whether nuclear POP-1

levels are asymmetric at any of these asymmetric divisions, as POP-1 antibodies do not stain the gonads of L1 animals. Finally, the Wnt involved in specifying Z1 and Z4 polarity is also not known, as mutation or interference with each of the *C. elegans wnt* genes did not cause gonad defects. It is possible that two or more of the *C. elegans* Wnts function redundantly, however.

Polarity of the male specific blast cell, B, is also specified by Wnt signaling. In wild-type males the B cell divides asymmetrically generating a larger anterior daughter, B.a, and a smaller posterior daughter, B.p. In addition to the difference in size, these asymmetric daughter cells have different fates, each producing different numbers of progeny. Mutations in *lin-44* cause both the difference in size and subsequent division pattern to be reversed (43). Mutations in *lin-17* cause a loss of polarity with two anterior cell fates being produced (44). It is not yet clear which other Wnt pathway components function to control B cell polarity. However, recent data suggest that components of the PCP pathway might play a role (M.W. and M.A.H., unpublished).

8. CONLUSIONS AND REMAINING QUESTIONS

8.1. EMS spindle effects

Wnt signals that control asymmetric cell divisions and cell polarity affect the mitotic spindle and subsequent asymmetric cell fate determination. In the EMS blastomere, the spindle must rotate for the asymmetric division to occur. The rotation of the EMS spindle is controlled by Wnt pathway components upstream of SGG-1 that appear to function in parallel with a SRC-like pathway (23). The target of signals that control spindle rotation may be the cytoskeleton, perhaps mediated by Rho-like GTPases (23). This is reminiscent of PCP pathways that control cell polarity in the Drosophila wing that also appear to function through regulating Rho-like GTPases (review in ref., 35). Spindle rotation does not appear to be involved in the asymmetric division of the T, Z1 and Z4 cells, thus Wnt effects on the spindle are not absolutely required for asymmetric cell divisions and may be unique to the EMS division. However, displacement of the mitotic spindle must be important for asymmetric divisions that generate daughters of different sizes such as the division of the B cell and certain other asymmetric divisions that occur within the T cell lineage (43).

8.2. POP-1 and asymmetric cell fate determination

POP-1/Tcf is involved in most, if not all, Wnt signaling pathways in *C. elegans*. In particular, the noncanonical Wnt pathways that control cell polarities and asymmetric cell fate determination during *C. elegans* development converge upon POP-1, leading to modifications that affect the function and cellular distribution of POP-1. One important modification is acetylation, which affects the nuclear-cytoplasmic distribution of POP-1 by promoting nuclear retention. Acetylation is also important for POP-1 function, as a mutant POP-1 protein that cannot be acetylated is unable to repress expression of endodermal genes in the mesodermal

precursor cell MS. However, the mechanism by which acetylation affects POP-1 function is not clear. Perhaps POP-1 must be acetylated to interact properly with HDA-1/HDAC and UNC-37/Groucho in order to inhibit MED induced expression of the *end* genes in MS (Figure 1). Other unidentified modifications may also prove to be important for POP-1 function in MS.

Of particular interest are the mechanisms that lead to the anterior-posterior difference in nuclear POP-1 levels between sisters cells of an asymmetric cell division. This appears to occur by affecting the nuclear-tocytoplasmic ratios of POP-1 without affecting total cellular POP-1 levels (28), suggesting that degradation of POP-1 is not involved as was previously thought. What the mechanisms might regulate the differences in the nuclearto-cytoplasmic POP-1 distribution in sister cells? POP-1 can affect its nuclear-to-cytoplasmic acetvlation distribution, however there is no evidence for differential POP-1 acetylation between asymmetric sister cells. Wnt/MAPK/Src signaling can, however, override the influence of acetylation and cause a redistribution of POP-1 to the cytoplasm. This appears to occur by modification of POP-1, presumably phosphorylation by WRM-1 and LIT-1, without affecting the acetylation state of POP-1. How does the redistribution of POP-1 from the nucleus to the cytoplasm occur? Some evidence indicates that redistribution only occurs after cell division, suggesting that modified POP-1 is excluded from the reforming nucleus in the signaled cell (28). However, nuclear export may also be involved. In either case, it is of interest to identify the proteins and mechanisms responsible for the exclusion or export of modified POP-1 from the nucleus, as well as to determine the role of SRC-1 signaling. Specifically, it is not yet clear exactly where the Wnt/MAPK and Src pathways intersect and how they interact.

Later in embryonic development, unidentified Wnt-independent mechanisms of POP-1 asymmetric nuclear distribution take over. It appears that MOM-5/Fz may play role, suggesting parallels with the PCP pathway (33). Much later in development, during the first larval stage, the asymmetric distribution of POP-1 nuclear levels again comes under the control of Wnt signals that control the polarity of the T cell divisions. What governs the transition from Wnt-independence to Wnt-dependence? The Wnt pathway that controls T cell polarity bears some resemblance to the EMS polarity pathway in that WRM-1 and LIT-1 are involved. It is not known whether SRC-1 signaling is also involved. Although this seems unlikely as, in contrast to EMS polarity where mutations in the upstream components mom-2/Wnt and mom-5/Fz cause a only a partial loss of cell polarity, mutations in *lin-44/Wnt* and *lin-17/Fz* cause highly penetrant, cell polarity defects. Thus in the T cell division, there does not seem to be a need for a parallel signaling pathway (Figure 2).

8.3. On the nature of POP-1 Quality

The functional consequence for the asymmetric distribution of nuclear POP-1 is still not clear. For example, it appears that it is not the difference in quantity of POP-1 between the MS and E cells that is important for endoderm induction, but instead the difference in quality of

POP-1 in each cell (28). For the MS cell, POP-1 has a quality that allows it to interact with HDA-1/HDAC and UNC-37/Groucho to inhibit MED induced expression of the end genes. This quality may be related to the observation of puncta of POP-1 accumulation in the MS nucleus. POP-1 puncta are also observed in other anterior sisters of asymmetric divisions during embryonic development, but they may not be involved in all anterior asymmetric sisters. For the E cell, POP-1 has a quality that allows it not to interact with the MEDs, which allows end gene expression and endoderm fate. This quality is likely to be the phosphorylation of POP-1 by WRM-1 and LIT-1. Perhaps phosphorylated POP-1 cannot interact with and inhibit the MEDs, allowing for end gene expression. Interestingly, the same quality of POP-1 may also lead to its redistribution to the cytoplasm. However, we will not know for sure until the sites on POP-1 that are phosphorylated are identified and the functional consequence of each phosphorylation determined. For the T cell division, POP-1 quality in the posterior daughter, T.p may have consequences different from that in the E cell. In the EMS cell division, the effect of removing POP-1 function on cell fate is the same as modifying and lowering the nuclear level of POP-1; the posterior endodermal cell fate is produced. In the T cell division, the effect of removing POP-1 function on cell fate is different than modifying and lowering the nuclear level of POP-1: the posterior T.p cell has a low nuclear level of POP-1 and generates neural cells whereas removal of POP-1 function causes the anterior epidermal cell fate to be produced. This suggests that POP-1 may have a quality that allows it to play a positive role in specifying the neural cell fate. Is the quality of POP-1 in E and T.p similar? If so, how can the consequences be different? If not, what are the differences in POP-1 qualities in these two cells and how are they generated? Finally, observations that the difference in POP-1 nuclear quantity plays little functional role in the specification of asymmetric cell fates, yet exists for many asymmetric cell divisions, remains a major mystery to be resolved by further study. Hopefully, workers in this field will have a better go at defining quality than did Phædrus, who found that although "there is such a thing as Quality, but that as soon as you try to define it, something goes haywire. You can't do it." (1).

9. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors thank Hitoshi Sawa for permission to mention unpublished results and members of the Herman lab for useful discussions. Research in the Herman lab is supported by NIH grant GM56339.

10. REFERENCES

1. Pirsig, R. M.: Zen and the art of Motorcycle maintenance: An inquiry into values: Morrow, William & Co., (1974)

2. Cadigan, K. M. and R. Nusse: *Wnt* signaling: a common theme in animal development. *Genes Dev.* 11, 3286-305 (1997)

3. van Es, J. H., N. Barker and H. Clevers: You Wnt some, you lose some: oncogenes in the Wnt signaling pathway. *Curr Opin Genet Dev* 13, 28-33 (2003)

4. Salinas, P. C.: Synaptogenesis: Wnt and TGF-beta take centre stage. *Curr Biol* 13, R60-2 (2003)

5. Veeman, M. T., J. D. Axelrod and R. T. Moon: A second canon. Functions and mechanisms of beta-cateninindependent Wnt signaling. *Dev Cell* 5, 367-77 (2003)

6. Herman, M. A.: Wnt signaling in *C. elegans*. In: Wnt signalling in development Ed: Kühl, M. Landes Biosciences, Georgetown, TX, USA, pp. 187-212 (2003)

7. Korswagen, H. C.: Canonical and non-canonical Wnt signaling pathways in *Caenorhabditis elegans*: variations on a common signaling theme. *Bioessays* 24, 801-10 (2002)

8. Herman, M. A.: Control of cell polarity by noncanonical Wnt signaling in *C. elegans. Semin Cell Dev Biol* 13, 233-41 (2002)

9. Guo, C.: *mig-5*, a gene that controls cell fate determination and cell migration in *C. elegans*, is a member of the Dsh family. Ph.D. in Biology. Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD (1995)

10. Harris, J., L. Honigberg, N. Robinson and C. Kenyon: Neuronal cell migration in *C. elegans*: regulation of Hox gene expression and cell position. *Development* 122, 3117-31 (1996)

11. Maloof, J. N., J. Whangbo, J. M. Harris, G. D. Jongeward and C. Kenyon: A Wnt signaling pathway controls hox gene expression and neuroblast migration in *C. elegans. Development* 126, 37-49 (1999)

12. Korswagen, H. C., M. A. Herman and H. C. Clevers: Distinct beta-catenins mediate adhesion and signalling functions in *C. elegans. Nature* 406, 527-32 (2000)

13. Herman, M.: *C. elegans* POP-1/TCF functions in a canonical Wnt pathway that controls cell migration and in a noncanonical Wnt pathway that controls cell polarity. *Development* 128, 581-90 (2001)

14. Korswagen, H. C., D. Y. M. Coudreeuse, M. Betist, S. van de Water and H. C. Clevers: The Axin-like protein PRY-1 is is a negative regulateor of a canonical Wnt pathway in *C. elegans. Genes Dev* 16, 1291-1302 (2002)

15. Natarajan, L., N. E. Witwer and D. M. Eisenmann: The divergent *Caenorhabditis elegans* beta-catenin proteins BAR-1, WRM-1 and HMP-2 make distinct protein interactions but retain functional redundancy *in vivo*. *Genetics* 159, 159-72. (2001)

16. Rocheleau, C. E., J. Yasuda, T. H. Shin, R. Lin, H. Sawa, H. Okano, J. R. Priess, R. J. Davis and C. C. Mello: WRM-1 activates the LIT-1 protein kinase to transduce

anterior/posterior polarity signals in C. elegans. Cell 97, 717-26 (1999)

17. Goldstein, B.: Induction of gut in *Caenorhabditis* elegans embryos. *Nature* 357, 255-7. (1992)

18. Goldstein, B.: Establishment of gut fate in the E lineage of *C. elegans*: the roles of lineage-dependent mechanisms and cell interactions. *Development* 118, 1267-77. (1993)

19. Rocheleau, C. E., W. D. Downs, R. Lin, C. Wittmann, Y. Bei, Y. H. Cha, M. Ali, J. R. Priess and C. C. Mello: Wnt signaling and an APC-related gene specify endoderm in early C. elegans embryos. *Cell* 90, 707-16 (1997)

20. Thorpe, C. J., A. Schlesinger, J. C. Carter and B. Bowerman: Wnt signaling polarizes an early C. elegans blastomere to distinguish endoderm from mesoderm. *Cell* 90, 695-705 (1997)

21. Schlesinger, A., C. A. Shelton, J. N. Maloof, M. Meneghini and B. Bowerman: Wnt pathway components orient a mitotic spindle in the early *Caenorhabditis elegans* embryo without requiring gene transcription in the responding cell. *Genes Dev* 13, 2028-38 (1999)

22. Jiang, M., J. Ryu, M. Kiraly, K. Duke, V. Reinke and S. K. Kim: Genome-wide analysis of developmental and sex-regulated gene expression profiles in *Caenorhabditis elegans. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 98, 218-23 (2001)

23. Bei, Y., J. Hogan, L. A. Berkowitz, M. Soto, C. E. Rocheleau, K. M. Pang, J. Collins and C. C. Mello: SRC-1 and Wnt signaling act together to specify endoderm and to control cleavage orientation in early C. elegans embryos. *Dev Cell* 3, 113-25 (2002)

24. Meneghini, M. D., T. Ishitani, J. C. Carter, N. Hisamoto, J. Ninomiya-Tsuji, C. J. Thorpe, D. R. Hamill, K. Matsumoto and B. Bowerman: MAP kinase and Wnt pathways converge to downregulate an HMG-domain repressor in *Caenorhabditis elegans. Nature* 399, 793-7 (1999)

25. Thorpe, C. J., A. Schlesinger and B. Bowerman: Wnt signalling in *Caenorhabditis elegans*: regulating repressors and polarizing the cytoskeleton. *Trends Cell Biol* 10, 10-17 (2000)

26. Calvo, D., M. Victor, F. Gay, G. Sui, M. P. Luke, P. Dufourcq, G. Wen, M. Maduro, J. Rothman and Y. Shi: A POP-1 repressor complex restricts inappropriate cell type-specific gene transcription during *Caenorhabditis elegans* embryogenesis. *Embo J* 20, 7197-7208. (2001)

27. Maduro, M. F., M. D. Meneghini, B. Bowerman, G. Broitman-Maduro and J. H. Rothman: Restriction of mesendoderm to a single blastomere by the combined action of SKN-1 and a GSK-3beta homolog is mediated by MED-1 and -2 in C. elegans. *Mol Cell* 7, 475-85 (2001)

28. Maduro, M. F., R. Lin and J. H. Rothman: Dynamics of a developmental switch: recursive intracellular and intranuclear redistribution of *Caenorhabditis elegans* POP-1 parallels Wnt-inhibited transcriptional repression. *Dev Biol* 248, 128-42 (2002)

29. Gay, F., D. Calvo, M. C. Lo, J. Ceron, M. Maduro, R. Lin and Y. Shi: Acetylation regulates subcellular localization of the Wnt signaling nuclear effector POP-1. *Genes Dev* 17, 717-22 (2003)

30. Berkowitz, L. A. and S. Strome: MES-1, a protein required for unequal divisions of the germline in early *C. elegans* embryos, resembles receptor tyrosine kinases and is localized to the boundary between the germline and gut cells. *Development* 127, 4419-31 (2000)

31. Shin, T. H., J. Yasuda, C. E. Rocheleau, R. Lin, M. Soto, Y. Bei, R. J. Davis and C. C. Mello: MOM-4, a MAP kinase kinase kinase-related protein, activates WRM-1/LIT- 1 kinase to transduce anterior/posterior polarity signals in C. elegans. *Mol Cell* 4, 275-80 (1999)

32. Lin, R., R. J. Hill and J. R. Priess: POP-1 and anteriorposterior fate decisions in C. elegans embryos. *Cell* 92, 229-39 (1998)

33. Park, F. D. and J. R. Priess: Establishment of POP-1 asymmetry in early *C. elegans* embryos. *Development* 130, 3547-56 (2003)

34. Gotta, M. and J. Ahringer: Distinct roles for Galpha and Gbetagamma in regulating spindle position and orientation in Caenorhabditis elegans embryos. *Nat Cell Biol* 3, 297-300 (2001)

35. Strutt, D. I.: The asymmetric subcellular localisation of components of the planar polarity pathway. *Semin Cell Dev Biol* 13, 225-31 (2002)

36. Herman, M. A., L. L. Vassilieva, H. R. Horvitz, J. E. Shaw and R. K. Herman: The C. elegans gene *lin-44*, which controls the polarity of certain asymmetric cell divisions, encodes a Wnt protein and acts cell nonautonomously. *Cell* 83, 101-10 (1995)

37. Sawa, H., L. Lobel and H. R. Horvitz: The *Caenorhabditis elegans* gene *lin-17*, which is required for certain asymmetric cell divisions, encodes a putative seven-transmembrane protein similar to the *Drosophila frizzled* protein. *Genes Dev.* 10, 2189-97 (1996)

38. Herman, M. A., Q. Ch'ng, S. M. Hettenbach, T. M. Ratliff, C. Kenyon and R. K. Herman: EGL-27 is similar to a metastasis-associated factor and controls cell polarity and cell migration in *C. elegans. Development* 126, 1055-64 (1999)

39. Sawa, H., H. Kouike and H. Okano: Components of the SWI/SNF complex are required for asymmetric cell division in C. elegans. *Mol Cell* 6, 617-24 (2000)

40. Zhao, X., Y. Yang, D. H. A. Fitch and M. A. Herman: TLP-1 is an asymmetric cell fate determinant that responds to Wnt signals and controls male tail tip morphogenesis in *C. elegans. Development* 126, 1497-1508 (2002)

41. Siegfried, K. R. and J. Kimble: POP-1 controls axis formations during early gonadogenesis in *C. elegans. Development* 129, 443-453 (2002)

42. Hubbard, E. J. and D. Greenstein: The *Caenorhabditis elegans* gonad: a test tube for cell and developmental biology. *Dev Dyn* 218, 2-22 (2000)

43. Herman, M. A. and H. R. Horvitz: The *Caenorhabditis elegans* gene *lin-44* controls the polarity of asymmetric cell divisions. *Development* 120, 1035-1047 (1994)

44. Sternberg, P. W. and H. R. Horvitz: *lin-17* mutations of *Caenorhabditis elegans* disrupt certain asymmetric cell divisions. *Dev. Biol.* 130, 67-73 (1988)

Key Words: Noncanonical Wnt signals, *C. elegans*, Cell polarity, POP-1, Tcf, Review

Send correspondence to: Dr Michael A. Herman, Program in Molecular, Cellular and Developmental Biology, Division of Biology, Kansas State University, Manhattan, KS 66506, Tel.: 785-532-6741 Fax: 785-532-6653 E-mail: mherman@ksu.edu